IN THE SUPREME COURT OF OHIO

KATHLEEN BLUS,	:	
	:	
APPELLANT,	:	
	:	
v.	:	
	:	On Appeal from the Erie County Court of
CIVISTA BANK,	:	Appeals, Sixth Appellate District
	:	Case No. E-24-029
APPELLEE.	:	
DAVID JOHNSON,	:	
	:	
APPELLANT,	:	
	:	
v.	:	
	:	
CIVISTA BANK,	:	On Appeal from the Erie County Court of
	:	Appeals, Sixth Appellate District
APPELLEE.	:	Case No. E-24-029 (E-24-030)

**MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF JURISDICTION
OF APPELLANTS KATHLEEN BLUS AND DAVID JOHNSON**

Shawn K. Judge (0069493)
 (Counsel of Record)
Mark H. Troutman (0076390)
GIBBS MURA LLP
1554 Polaris Parkway, Suite 325
Columbus, Ohio 43240
Telephone: (510) 350-9700
Fax: (510) 350-9701

Drew H. Campbell (0047197)

**EXPLANATION OF WHY THIS CASE IS A CASE
OF PUBLIC OR GREAT GENERAL INTEREST**

This case is a case of public importance or great general interest for at least three reasons.

First, the 2-1 appellate panel rejects a “reasonable consumer standard” (giving the contract terms the ordinary meaning of words informed by the expectations from everyday life) when interpreting a bank’s form contract. The appellate court was called upon to determine whether multiple terms that were left undefined in a bank’s accountholder contract were ambiguous. Instead of assessing ambiguity based on how the words of the contract could be reasonably understood by a consumer, two of the three judges on the appellate panel deemed the bank’s interpretation to be the *only* reasonable interpretation as a matter of law. By impermissibly rejecting the perspective of a reasonable consumer, the panel majority rejects fundamental principles of contract interpretation and adopts (without owning up to it) a separate interpretation test for consumer contracts.

Second, the 2-1 panel adopts a severe, anti-textualist reading of the contracts involved here. This approach is not mere error correction. Instead, the panel majority credits *a* reasonable contract interpretation as *the* only reasonable contract interpretation possible. In doing so, the panel majority interpreted the contract terms based on a nuanced and sophisticated understanding of esoteric banking practices rather than on the ordinary meaning of the words used at the time the contract was entered into. But the contracts did not mention, much less explain, such practices.

Just as a “willingness to read something into a statute that does not exist threatens our form of government,” *Maple Heights v. Netflix, Inc.*, 2022-Ohio-4174, ¶ 38 (Kennedy, J., concurring), so too does reading into contract terms exclusive meaning threaten the very concept of a meeting of the minds and how contracts are understood and applied statewide. Inserting one *possible* meaning as the *only* reasonable meaning when that is not what the contract language says throws

out the concept of ambiguity and text-based analysis in favor of a “we know what the banks wanted to get at” approach. This is dangerous. Words carry meaning and that meaning must be discerned and applied based *on the text itself* and not mere one-sided intentions.

Third, the 2-1 split decision has put the highest court in Ohio to have yet addressed the issues in this case into an outlier, minority number of courts that used discredited rationales.

The overwhelming majority of courts—*literally over a 100 courts nationwide*—completely disagree with the rationale of the panel decision being appealed here:

- Multiple Ohio courts disagree with the Sixth District’s reasoning.
- The majority of state courts that have addressed the same issues as those found here disagree with the Sixth District’s reasoning.
- The majority of federal courts that have addressed the same issues as those found here disagree with the Sixth District’s reasoning.

The dissent therefore recognized that the panel majority was placing the Sixth District into a dubious group. Judge Mayle wrote: “I would join the ‘overwhelming majority of courts’ from other jurisdictions that have found similar contract language . . . to be ambiguous.” (App. A ¶107.)

This case calls for the Court to recognize the correct standard for interpreting consumer contracts to bring clarity and consistency to such cases statewide and to place Ohio firmly within the overwhelming majority of courts that have applied the correct standard and have reached decision directly contrary to the decision on appeal here. If allowed to stand, the 2-1 decision here would provide a flawed template for future consumer contract cases both in and outside the banking context. It would place Ohio as an outlier in reading contracts directly adverse to fundamental principles of interpretation and textualism. Such consequences present profound implications for all Ohioans—the vast majority of whom have bank accounts specifically and have signed contracts as customers generally—as well as for the courts of Ohio, which should be

confined to crediting the meaning of the words of a contract and not substituting presumed intent for the meaning of the words employed.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Plaintiffs-Appellants Kathleen Blus and David Johnson are both checking account holders with Defendant-Appellee Civista Bank (“Civista”). Their consolidated cases challenge two fee-maximization practices employed by Civista: (1) the assessment of overdraft fees (“OD Fees”) on “APPSN” debit card transactions (those transactions that Civista authorized against a positive available account balance, but purportedly settled against a negative one, and (2) the assessment of multiple non-sufficient funds fees (“NSF Fees”) on the same electronic transactions or checks when reprocessed again and again after initially being returned for insufficient funds.

Appellants have incurred fees not permitted under the terms of their account contracts with Civista. In both 2016 and 2017, Johnson was charged \$33 NSF Fees on transactions that were resubmitted by a merchant for payment without Johnson’s request to reprocess the transactions. In addition to the impermissible retry fees that Civista charged him, Johnson was also assessed OD Fees by Civista in 2016 for a debit card transaction, despite the fact positive funds were previously deducted for the transaction on which Johnson was assessed the OD Fee. At the time the positive funds were initially deducted, he had a positive balance, which should have prevented a fee.

Blus similarly incurred OD Fees. Twice in 2020, Blus was assessed fees for debit card transactions that settled each day, despite the fact that positive funds were deducted immediately, prior to those days, for the transaction on which Blus was assessed the fee. At the time that the positive funds were deducted, Blus had a positive balance, which should have prevented a fee.

In February 2022, Blus filed a class action complaint in the Erie County Common Pleas Court. She sought to litigate an APPSN class action on behalf of herself and similarly situated

Ohio and Indiana accountholders. In February 2023, Johnson filed a class action on behalf of himself and two classes of similarly situated Ohio citizens who had incurred APPSN Fees or more than one NSF Fee on the same item.

Blus and Johnson asserted two claims: one for breach of contract, including the breach of the duty of good faith and fair dealing, and, alternatively, one for unjust enrichment. After the two cases were consolidated, Civista filed for summary judgment on all claims. On April 25, 2024, the trial court issued a Journal Entry granting summary judgment for Civista in the consolidated cases. (Appx. A, 4/25/24 Journal Entry.) The trial court then filed the same Journal Entry (with only a different caption) in Case No. 2023 CV 0070 on April 29, 2024. (Appx. B, 4/29/24 Journal Entry.)

Appellants appealed. The Sixth District consolidated Appeal Nos. E-24-029 (*Blus* Appeal) and E-24-030 (*Johnson* Appeal) under Appeal No. E-24-029. Following oral argument in January 2025, the Sixth District issued its decision on September 12, 2025. *See* Appx. A. In a 2-1 split panel decision, the court of appeals affirmed. Appellants now timely appeal.

ARGUMENT IN SUPPORT OF PROPOSITIONS OF LAW

PROPOSITION OF LAW NO. 1

IN DETERMINING WHETHER A CUSTOMER’S CHECKING ACCOUNT CONTRACT WITH A BANK IS AMBIGUOUS, A COURT MUST CREDIT HOW THAT CUSTOMER COULD REASONABLY UNDERSTAND THE MEANING OF THE CONTRACT LANGUAGE USED, TAKING INTO ACCOUNT THE ORDINARY MEANING OF WORDS AND A CUSTOMER’S EXPECTATIONS FROM EVERYDAY LIFE.

Civista’s ability to assess fees is derived only from its contractual powers. This means that summary judgment on Appellants’ contract claims was error if the contracts involved either outright prohibit *or* are ambiguous as to whether they permit Civista’s fee practices. Appellants argue the contracts are at the very least ambiguous.

The Correct Analysis

This case asks one question: *How would a reasonable consumer understand each contract?*

Under Ohio law, “[a] contract is ambiguous if, after applying established rules of interpretation, the written instrument, ‘*** remains reasonably susceptible to at least two reasonable but conflicting meanings, when viewed objectively by a reasonably intelligent person who has examined the context of the entire integrated agreement ***.’” *Try Hours, Inc. v. Douville*, 2013-Ohio-53, ¶ 13 (6th Dist.), quoting 11 Lord, *Williston on Contracts*, Section 30.4, 39-41 (4 Ed.1999). Ohio law provides that “[t]erms in a contract are ambiguous if their meanings cannot be determined from reading the entire contract, or if they are reasonably susceptible to multiple interpretations.” *Porterfield v. Bruner Land Co., Inc.*, 2017-Ohio-9045, ¶ 18 (7th Dist.).

“When there is an ambiguity in the language of a contract, the court first looks to extrinsic evidence to determine the parties’ intent.” *LublinSussman Group LLP v. Lee*, 2018-Ohio-666, ¶ 21 (6th Dist.). In the courts below, Civista argued that its contracts are not ambiguous and never offered any extrinsic evidence as to the parties’ intent. Thus, if there were a finding of ambiguity, the outcome of Civista’s summary judgment motion would be inevitable because the contract here is one of adhesion, which is “standardized and between parties of unequal bargaining power.” *Westfield Ins. Co. v. Galatis*, 2003-Ohio-5849, ¶ 13. In such situations, “an ambiguity in the writing will be interpreted strictly against the drafter and in favor of the non-drafting party.” *Id.*

APPSN Claims: “Hold” presents ambiguity

Civista’s 2018 Agreement provides:

A temporary debit authorization hold affects your account balance – On debit card purchases, merchants may request a temporary hold on your account for a specified sum of money, which may be more than the actual amount of your purchase ***. This temporary hold, and the amount charged to your account, will eventually be adjusted to the actual amount of your purchase, but it may be up to three days before the adjustment is made. Until the adjustment is made, the

amount of funds in your account available for other transactions will be reduced by the amount of the temporary hold. *If another transaction is presented for payment in an amount greater than the funds left after the deduction of the temporary hold amount, that transaction will be a nonsufficient funds (NSF) transaction if we do not pay it or an overdraft transaction if we do pay it.* You will be charged an NSF *** fee according to our NSF *** fee policy. You will be charged the fee even if you would have had sufficient funds in your account if the amount of the hold had been equal to the amount of your purchase.

((Emphasis added.) *Id.* at 3.) A reasonable interpretation of this provision is that debit holds are placed immediately on pending debit card purchases; that the holds reduce the available balance on an account; and that the held funds will be used to pay for the transaction that caused the hold.

A reasonable customer’s understanding of the term “hold” is critical here. If funds are placed on hold immediately for authorized debit card transactions and held until settlement, no overdraft can occur because there are sufficient “available funds” to cover the transaction. That is the entire purpose of a “debit hold.” The panel majority rejected this understanding and found *as a matter of law* that the contract language unambiguously means that because temporarily “holding” money for a payment is not the same as paying the money, the contract can only mean that held money is not really held until the adjusted payment. (Appx. A ¶ 24.)

The dissent punctures this reasoning. It explains that, based on the dictionary definition of “hold” and the fact the contract says a hold results in a charge to the account that reduces or makes unavailable the account in the amount of the hold, a reasonable consumer would likely believe that the bank would take immediate control or possession of sufficient funds to satisfy the pending debit transaction. (Appx. A ¶¶ 76-77.) The hold’s purpose is to set aside enough to pay the debt that caused the hold, with the hold possibly resulting in fees on *other* transactions. (*Id.* ¶ 78.)

The dissent’s textualist approach—assessing interpretation from the view of a reasonable consumer applying the ordinary meaning of the plain language involved, as well as crediting all the language involved—agrees with the numerous courts (addressing the exact same, or similar,

language as that involved here) that have found Appellants’ interpretation reasonable. *See, e.g., Livingston v. Trustco Bank*, N.D.N.Y. No. 1:20-CV-1030, 2022 WL 798157, at *11 (Mar. 16, 2022) (“Like other courts addressing similar arguments, the Court finds that the language in the relevant account documents is ambiguous, because both parties’ interpretations of the disputed language is reasonable.”); *Williams v. Happy State Bank*, Tx.App. No. 07-22-00080-CV, 2023 WL 3506487, at *5 (May 17, 2023); *Carpenter v. Idaho Cent. Credit Union*, D.Idaho No. 1:21-cv-355-SAB (Jan. 25, 2022) at 7-8; *Feyen v. Spokane Teachers Credit Union*, Wash.App. No. 38346-6-III (Aug. 18, 2022) at 12; *Varga v. Am. Airlines Fed. Credit Union*, 2020 WL 8881747, at *4 (C.D.Cal. Dec. 1, 2020); *Hash v. First Fin. Bancorp*, 2021 WL 859736 (S.D.Ind. Mar. 8, 2021).

APPSN Claims: “Honor” presents ambiguity

The 2018 Agreement says Civista will determine overdrafts *when* it decides to “honor” debit card transactions. That is crucial, because Civista (like all financial institutions) decides whether to engage in an obligation to pay debit card transactions *at the moment of authorization*—not at the later stage of settlement. After authorization, Civista is obligated to pay the transaction, no matter what; the initial decision cannot be undone. Electronic Fund Transfers, 74 Fed. Reg. 59033-01, 59046 (Nov. 17, 2009).) Indeed, the 2018 Agreement targets authorization, which is when Civista chooses whether to “honor” a debit card transaction or not, is dispositive for purposes of OD Fees:

Overdrafts - You understand that we may, at our discretion, honor withdrawal requests that overdraw your account. However, the fact that we may honor withdrawal requests that overdraw the account balance does not obligate us to do so later. So you can NOT rely on us to pay overdrafts on your account regardless of how frequently or under what circumstances we have paid overdrafts on your account in the past. We can change our practice of paying, or not paying, discretionary overdrafts on your account without notice to you.

(2018 Agreement at 4; *see also* 2020 Agreement at 2.)

This is yet again why a textualist approach to the contract renders the analysis of the panel majority and Civista erroneous. Addressing the language cited directly above, the dissent explains that “[a]lthough there is language in the contract supporting the bank’s interpretation, nothing in the contract unambiguously explains how the ‘authorization’ and ‘settlement’ process could result in fees for transactions that the bank has already ‘honored.’” (*Id.* ¶ 86.) The dissent thus concludes that “[i]t is therefore reasonable for a customer to read this provision and believe that the bank would ‘honor’ its authorization decision for fee purposes.” (*Id.*)

The dissent’s text-based analysis agrees with a federal court that, reviewing the same “we may, at our discretion, honor withdrawal requests that overdraw your account” language that Civista uses, held:

Plaintiff sets forth a reasonable interpretation of the Terms and Conditions that would preclude Defendant from assessing overdraft charges on APPSN transactions. The Terms and Conditions can be read to only authorize overdraft fees when Defendant “honors” — i.e., authorizes — a withdrawal request that overdraws the account ***.

Precision Roofing of N. Florida, Inc., v. Centerstate Bank, M.D.Fla. No. 3:20-cv-00352-BJD-JRK, 2021 WL 3036354, at *5-6 (Feb. 22, 2021). Multiple courts nationwide agree. *See, e.g., Hash*, 2021 WL 859736; *Gardner v. Flagstar Bank, FSB*, 2025 WL 1721191, at *3 (6th Cir. June 20, 2025); *Lussoro v. Ocean Fin. Fed. Credit Union*, 456 F.Supp.3d 474, 483 (E.D.N.Y.2020).

APPSN Claims: “Pay” and “presented for payment” present ambiguity

Another example of ambiguity exists in this contract sentence: “[i]f another transaction is presented for payment in an amount greater than the funds left after the deduction of the temporary hold amount, that transaction will be a nonsufficient funds (NSF) transaction if we do not pay it or an overdraft transaction if we do pay it.” The panel majority held as matter of law that this means fees on APPSN transactions are allowed under the contracts because overdrafts are

exclusively determined when a debit transaction is “paid.” But this argument incorrectly assumes that the contractually undefined terms “pay” and “payment” unambiguously mean the settlement of a debit card transaction.

As the dissent recognized, that interpretation finds no basis in the contract language, which actually suggests the moment of authorization is the key moment. (Appx. A ¶ 85.) This is why the dissent adopts the Second Circuit’s analysis of the terms at issue and concludes that “the typical bank customer does not possess specialized knowledge regarding how the banking industry processes debit-card transactions in multiple stages” and notes that “this multi-stage process is not clearly explained within the contract itself.” (*Id.* ¶85.) Thus, “a reasonable consumer likely considers something to have been paid for when they swipe their debit card, not when their bank’s back-office operations are completed.” *Roberts*, 719 F.Appx. at 37. The term “paid” means, *to a reasonable accountholder*, the time of a debit card swipe, not the later stage of settlement, as the panel majority assumed here. *See, e.g., Varga*, 2020 WL 8881747, at *4 (“the word ‘pay’ does not unambiguously indicate the [overdraft] fee is not determined until the transaction posts.”).

Because of the varying, undefined, and esoteric words used in the documents, *a reasonable consumer could be confused*. The documents nowhere send clear notice of being required to pay an overdraft fee on a transaction for which the credit union segregates funds from the account when those funds are sufficient to retire the debit card debt.” (Emphasis added.); *Roberts*, 719 F.Appx. at 36-37 (finding contract to be “opaque and problematic” and stating “it would hardly be implausible for a consumer to think that ‘a transaction’ refers to the consumer’s transaction with a merchant, such that the assessment of whether their account holds sufficient funds refers to the funds available at the time that the consumer-merchant transaction is authorized”).

APPSN Claims: Other Ohio Courts found ambiguity

In addition to the many, many courts nationwide that have found in favor of Appellants' interpretation, similar results have been reached in Ohio. See, e.g., *Workman v. Park National Bank*, Licking C.P. No. 2022 CV 01217 (Mar. 7, 2023) (interpreting language almost identical to Civista's 2018 contract and holding that ambiguity existed as to whether funds placed on a debit card hold are available only for settlement of that specific purchase).

APPSN Claims: The 2020 Agreement is also ambiguous

Civista's 2020 Agreement reads in relevant part:

Determining your available balance - We use the "available balance" method to determine whether your account is overdrawn, that is, whether there is enough money in your account to pay for a transaction. Importantly, your "available" balance may not be the same as your account's "actual" balance. This means an overdraft or an NSF transaction could occur regardless of your account's current balance.

Your account's current balance (sometimes called the ledger balance) only includes transactions that have settled up to that point in time, that is, transactions (deposits and payments) that have posted to your account. The current balance does not include outstanding transactions (such as checks that have not yet cleared and electronic transactions that have been authorized but which are still pending). The balance on your periodic statement is the ledger balance for your account as of the statement date.

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