IN THE SUPREME COURT OF OHIO

KATHLEEN BLUS,	:	Case No. 2025-1431
	:	
APPELLANT,	:	On Appeal from the Erie County Court of
	:	Appeals, Sixth District
Vs.	:	Case No. E-24-029
	:	
CIVISTA BANK,	:	
	:	
APPELLEE.	:	
<hr/>		
DAVID JOHNSON,	:	
	:	
APPELLANT,	:	On Appeal from the Erie County Court of
	:	Appeals, Sixth District
vs.	:	Case No. E-24-029 (E-24-30)
	:	
CIVISTA BANK,	:	
	:	
APPELLEE.	:	

APPELLEE’S MEMORANDUM OPPOSING JURISDICTION

Drew H. Campbell (0047197)
Jessica Bainbridge (0103348)
BRICKER GRAYDON LLP
100 S. Third Street
Columbus, Ohio 43215
Telephone: (614) 227-2300
Facsimile: (614) 227-2390
dcampbell@brickergraydon.com
jbainbridge@brickergraydon.com

Shawn K. Judge (0069493)

**EXPLANATION OF WHY THIS CASE IS NOT
OF PUBLIC OR GREAT GENERAL INTEREST**

This discretionary appeal arises from a garden-variety breach of contract action brought by two consumers who challenged Appellee-Civista Bank’s (“Civista”) handling of overdrafts from their checking accounts. The Sixth Appellate District’s Decision and Judgment (“Decision”),¹ affirming the trial court’s grant of summary judgment rests entirely on a straightforward application of well-established law unique to the specific facts of this case—and not on a statement of law that is unsettled, confusing, overreaching, or in conflict with another appellate district in this state.

Below, the parties agreed to consolidate two separate cases and to present them to the trial court on a motion for summary judgment. Following briefing and an extensive oral argument, the trial court granted Civista’s motion, ruling that the assessment of overdraft fees (“OD Fees”) and non-sufficient funds fees (“NSF Fees”) was permitted by the clear and unambiguous language of two separate customer agreements dated 2018 and 2020, respectively.

Appellants (referred to individually as “Blus” and “Johnson”), appealed to the Sixth Appellate District, raising five assignments of error. After thorough consideration of Appellants’ arguments, the court of appeals issued a detailed decision finding that each lacked merit and affirmed the trial court’s grant of summary judgment in full. Appellants now file this discretionary appeal alleging that the court of appeals erred. A review of their single proposition of law shows that Appellants seek nothing more than error correction. Historically this Court has not accepted discretionary appeals presented mainly to address alleged errors of the trial and appellate courts limited to the case on appeal.

¹ The Decision is attached to the Appellants’ Memorandum In Support Of Jurisdiction Of Appellants Kathleen Blus and David Johnson (“Memorandum In Support”) at Appendix A (“Appx. A”).

Nor are Appellants asking this Court to resolve an unsettled question of law or a conflict among districts. They are asking for a wholesale rewrite of Ohio contract law. Their proposed “reasonable consumer” standard would upend centuries of precedent, inject uncertainty into every standardized contract, and create litigation over subjective expectations rather than objective text. The Sixth Appellate District applied the correct rule: enforce the plain language of the contract. This case is fact-specific, governed by clear agreements, and offers no guidance beyond its own record. There is no reason for this Court to grant review.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellants were parties to two written contracts with Civista. Decision at ¶ 12. The first contract is called the “Consumer Account Disclosures,” and is dated September 17, 2018 (the “2018 Agreement”). The second contract is titled “Notice Of Change To Our Funds Availability Policy And the Terms Of Your Account,” dated July 1, 2020 (the “2020 Agreement”). *Id.* at ¶ 2.

As permitted under these contracts, Civista charged Appellants OD Fees when point-of-sale debit card “swipes” were presented for payment from their overdrawn accounts. Appellants argued that as long as their balances were sufficient when the merchant first initiated a point-of-sale transaction, that Civista should have “sequestered” the funds and “held” them until that purchase was presented for payment—even though payment of their *intervening* transactions overdrew their accounts and was the reason they lacked sufficient funds to pay. Appellants call this the “authorize-positive-purportedly-settle-negative” or “APPSN” theory. *Id.* at ¶ 5.

Appellant Johnson also alleges that on one occasion under the 2018 Agreement he was charged more than one NSF fee on the same pre-authorized ACH transaction when his account didn’t have enough money to pay the charge the first time—or when his merchant’s bank re-presented the charge two more times in an effort to get paid. *Id.* at ¶ 5.

In NSF transactions a customer has given a merchant prior authorization to make periodic deductions from an account. Examples include monthly withdrawals for insurance, utilities, installment loans, and the like. If the account has insufficient funds to pay, the item is returned unpaid, and an NSF fee is charged. The merchant's bank, via the Automated Clearing House ("ACH") system, is permitted to re-submit the payment up to two more times. Civista may assess fees for each subsequent presentment if the account remains overdrawn.

The latter two presentments are the "retries" which are the subject of Appellant Johnson's second breach of contract claim, which he calls the "Multiple NSF Fee" theory." Decision at ¶ 5. *See, e.g., Lambert v. Navy Army Fed. Credit Union*, 2019 WL 3843064, * 1 (E.D. Va. 2019) (describing a retry transaction).

On April 25, 2025, the trial court granted summary judgment in favor of Civista. With respect to the APPSN theory, the trial court reasoned that both the 2018 and 2020 Agreements "unambiguously provide that a customer will not have access to his or her funds immediately; that the available balance can be less than the actual balance on a customer's account; and that the NSF or OD Fees may be charged when the available balance is insufficient to cover the item presented." *Id.* at ¶ 9. The trial court rejected Appellants' argument that the NSF determination is made at the time of authorization, not payment. The trial court also rejected Appellants' argument that Civista was required to "sequester" funds relating to specific temporary authorization holds.

With respect to the Multiple NSF Fee theory under the 2018 Agreement, the trial court rejected Johnson's argument that the NSF Fee refers to a single order or instruction for payment, and ruled that Civista did not breach the contract when it charged an NSF Fee each time a merchant re-submitted an item for payment. *Id.* at ¶ 10.

Appellants timely appealed the trial court's decision and, on September 12, 2025, the Sixth

District Court of Appeals entered its Decision affirming the ruling of the trial court, with one dissenting opinion.

LAW AND ARGUMENT

Appellants’ Proposition of Law No. 1: In determining whether a customer’s checking account contract with a bank is ambiguous, a court must credit how that customer could reasonably understand the meaning of the contract language used, taking into account the ordinary meaning of words and a customer’s expectations from everyday life.

Appellants ask this Court “to recognize the correct standard for interpreting consumer contracts” which they claim requires a court to answer this question: “[h]ow would a reasonable consumer understand each contract?” Appellants’ Brief at 2, 5. Appellants acknowledge that Ohio has never before recognized such a rule, but argue that because other states have done so in the context of the so-called “APPSN” cases, so should the Supreme Court of Ohio. *Id.* at 2. Appellants’ argument is wrong as a matter of law and unnecessary here because the Sixth District correctly ruled that the 2018 and 2020 Agreements are clear and unambiguous, thus precluding any examination of extrinsic evidence, much less what a “reasonable consumer”—a fictional third party—might expect.

The “Reasonable Consumer” Standard Contradicts Long-Settled Ohio Contract Law

From the inception of this case, Appellants have argued that both the trial and appellate courts should consider “extrinsic evidence” and adopt a “reasonable consumer” standard to govern the interpretation of the customer account agreements. Nine times the dissent below cited a variation on this theme, including references to a “reasonable consumer,” Decision at ¶¶ 76, 86, 89; “a reasonable customer,” ¶ 76; “a typical customer,” ¶¶ 85, 102; “a typical bank customer,” ¶ 85; “a consumer’s perspective,” ¶ 97; and “the perspective of a consumer,” ¶ 105.

If applied, both Appellants and the dissent contend that this standard would automatically create “a factual issue [] regarding whether a typical customer, upon reading the 2018 [and 2020]

agreement, would reasonably understand” the meaning of the contract. Memo. at 12, quoting Decision at ¶ 103.

The majority rejected this argument for the unassailable reason that “the perspective of a banking customer . . . does not permit the customer to replace” the language in the contracts “with his or her expectations from everyday experience.” Decision at ¶ 14; *see also* ¶ 27.

Starting with well-established law, the court of appeals stated that “in all cases involving contract interpretation, we start with the primary interpretive rule that courts should give effect to the intentions of the parties as expressed in the language of their written agreement.” *Id.* at ¶ 17. Ohio law is clear that it is the duty of the court to exhaust principles of contract interpretation *before* resorting to extrinsic evidence of the parties’ intent. *Id.*, citing *Sutton Bank v. Progressive Polymers, L.L.C.*, 2020-Ohio-5101, ¶ 15. As one court noted in the APPSN context, “If the text of the agreement is unambiguous, then the court is without authority to resort to extrinsic evidence’ such as public confusion, ‘in interpreting its meaning.’” *Lambert v. Navy Fed. Credit Union*, 2019 WL 3843064 (E.D. Va. 2019). “The fact that a customer may have . . . reasonably believed that a debit card transaction would be immediately debited from the account at the time of a transaction, does not create an ambiguity when the contract at issue clearly states otherwise.” *Green v. Widget Fin. Credit Union*, 2023 WL 7017743, *5 (Pa. C.P.). In Ohio, courts may not use extrinsic evidence to create ambiguity; the ambiguity must be present on the face of the contract. *Westbrock v. Western Ohio Health Corp.*, 137 Ohio App.3d 304, 315 (2nd Dist. 2000).

Here, the court of appeals carefully and thoroughly interpreted each of the challenged contractual provisions, found them to be clear on their face, and refused to create ambiguity by importing a “reasonable consumer” rule. There was no need for the court’s analysis to go further.

Moreover, the proposed “reasonable consumer” standard isn’t even “extrinsic evidence.” Under Ohio law, extrinsic evidence for contract interpretation is limited to three primary categories: “(1) the circumstances surrounding *the parties* at the time the contract was made, (2) the objectives *the parties* intended to accomplish by entering into the contract, and (3) any acts by *the parties* that demonstrate the construction they gave to their agreement.” *United Dairy Farmers, Inc. v. Value Development Corp.*, 2023-Ohio-4232, ¶ 52 (5th Dist.) (emphasis added), quoting *Lutz v. Chesapeake Appalachia, L.L.C.*, 2016-Ohio-7549, ¶ 9. In each case, extrinsic evidence focuses on the contracting *parties* themselves; not on the expectation of a third-party “consumer” with no connection to the parties at all.

What’s more, adoption of Appellants’ proposed “reasonable consumer” standard to govern consumer contracts would wholly contradict and implicitly overrule the plain language rule, create ambiguity by impermissibly expanding the scope of extrinsic evidence, and contradict centuries of controlling precedent.

Indeed, imagine two Civista customers with the same contract. One is found to be a “reasonable consumer” and the other is not. In that scenario—promoted by the Appellants—the *same* contract would mean *different* things to each person depending on how the “reasonable consumer” standard was applied. The result is unpredictable, unworkable, and absurd. It is also unfair. By creating an express presumption in favor of the fictional “reasonable consumer” and adverse to any person or entity involved in a consumer transaction, Appellants’ proposal would unconstitutionally abridge the substantive rights of a specific class of Ohio citizens and businesses in violation of Ohio Const. Art. IV, § 5 by depriving them of the neutral and uniform application of Ohio contract law. Appellants’ proposal is contrary to the public interest.

The Agreements Unambiguously Permit Assessment of OD and NSF Fees.

Appellants’ invention of new “extrinsic evidence” is wholly unnecessary because, as the court of appeals correctly held, both the 2018 and 2020 contracts clearly and unambiguously permitted Civista to assess both OD and NSF Fees.

Starting with the 2018 Agreement, it describes the first stage in the debit/point-of-sale transaction, which includes both the temporary debit hold and its effect on the available balance to determine overdrafts at the time of payment:

A temporary debit authorization hold affects your account balance – On debit card purchases, merchants may request a *temporary hold* on your account for a specified sum of money, which may be more than the actual amount of your purchase * * * * This temporary hold, and the amount charged to your account, will eventually be adjusted to the actual amount of your purchase, but it may be up to three days before the adjustment is made. Until the adjustment is made, the amount of funds in your account available for other transactions will be reduced by the amount of the temporary hold * * * *

Agreement at 3 (emphasis added).

Next, the Customer Overdraft Policy provision describes the second stage in the debit card transaction, including how intervening transactions can affect the available balance and result in the assessment of fees:

CUSTOMER OVERDRAFT POLICY

An insufficient balance can result from several events, such as: (1) the payment of checks, electronic funds transfers or other withdrawal requests; (2) payments authorized by you; (3) the return of unpaid items deposited by you; (4) bank service charges; or (5) the deposit of items which, according to the bank’s Funds Availability Policy, are treated as not yet available or finally paid. *We are not obligated in any way to pay any item presented for payment if your account does not contain sufficient funds* * * * *

(Emphasis added.)

This section also includes the order of payment provision, which explains how the payment order can cause the assessment of fees:

In the normal course of business, we generally pay items presented in a branch (over the

counter) or at an ATM first, then electronic transactions and then checks in serial number order * * * * Also, please be aware that *the order of payment item may create multiple overdraft items* during a single banking day for which you will be charged our Non-Sufficient Funds (NSF) item paid fee of \$35 for each overdraft item paid.

2018 Agreement at 18 (emphasis added).

Thus, reading all of the relevant terms together, the contract makes clear that *all* transactions, including those subject to a temporary hold, are paid in a prescribed order—not in the order they may have been authorized or received.

Notably, the payment order provision does not say that it operates subject to the temporary hold, or that the payment order language does not apply to transactions for which there was a temporary hold. *See, e.g., Razavi v. Green State Credit Union*, 2020 WL 7379064, *7 (Dist. Ct. Iowa) (contract did not “provide that any such hold means that the payment order language of the contract should be disregarded.”).

Based on the forgoing provisions, the court of appeals concluded that:

*** the plain and unambiguous terms of the 2018 Agreement provide that when a Civista Bank customer swipes his or her debit card at a merchant and the transaction is authorized, a temporary hold is placed on the customer’s account. The funds are not paid out of the account, however, until the time of settlement at which point the NSF Fee assessment occurs. Civista Bank clearly sets forth the order of payment to be, generally, “items presented in a branch (over the counter transactions) or at an ATM first, then electronic transactions and then checks in serial number order, per the bank’s policy,” and an NSF Fee is assessed whenever “the payment of checks, electronic funds transfers or other withdrawal requests, [or] payments authorized by [the customer]” exceeds the available balance. Therefore, the 2018 Agreement unambiguously authorizes Civista Bank to impose an NSF Fee on debit card transactions that authorize into a positive balance but settle into a negative balance.

Decision, ¶ 30.

With respect to the 2020 Agreement, the court of appeals noted that the Appellants “raise[d] no new arguments” and thus affirmed the trial court ruling that it, too, clearly and unambiguously supported assessment of OD Fees. Decision, ¶ 48.

APPELLANTS' ARGUMENTS

The "APPSN" Claims

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